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About 100 years after pioneers from New Haven settled Wallingford, 
Connecticut in 1670, the Samuel Parsons House was built on the east side 
of South Main Street, one of the town's first highways. At one time a 
tavern on the stage coach route to Hartford, the house now serves as the 
headquarters and museum of the Wallingford Historical Society. The street 
is lined with shade trees, and most of the houses in the pleasant, resi­ 
dential neighborhood were constructed in the 19th and early 20th centuries 
(Photograph 1).

The Samuel Parsons House Is a 2^-story, 5-bay, central doorway, twin 
brick chimney, clapboard house on stone foundations, sited a few feet back 
from the sidewalk behind a wood picket fence with square posts. The second 
story overhangs the first on four sides, and there Is a 19th-century 1-story 
wing at the southeast corner (Photograph 2). The overhang has a molding that 
breaks out over the first floor 12-over-12 windows to serve as the lintels, 
while the facade*s three 6-over-6 dormer windows In the lower slope of the 
gambrel roof have peaked caps. The clapboards have 3^5-Inches exposed to the 
weather, and are thought to be original, except for those on the south side. 
The roof Is covered with wood shingles, except for the lower slope In the 
rear where asphalt shingles are a replacement.

The elaborate central portico appears on stylistic analysis to be iome- 
what later than the house itself, perhaps being added in the early 19th cen- 
turv. It consists of a low gable roof supported by two square, fluted posts 
and corresponding pilasters. The molded capital of each post supports a 
plal^archltrave^nd freize, correctly positioned behind the front edge of 
the capital, that runs back to the facade, supporting the roof. A flat oor- 
n^ce with shallow modilllon blocks projects on three sides of this architrave/ 
frelze- its front edge serves as the return of the raking cornice. The

urlng five feet long (Photographs 3 and V.
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The side (north and south) elevations of the house both have two win­ 
dows at first-floor, second-floor, and attic levels. The attic windows have 
small, if-over-l| sash (Photographs 2, 5 and 6). The rear (east) elevation of 
the main block at first-floor level has four windows, one of which, second 
from the north, is smaller than the others, and may be in the location of an 
earlier back door. There are no windows upstairs in this elevation (Photo­ 
graph 6).

The one-story, gable-roofed wing at the southeast corner was built In 
two sections (see floor plans). The first 9% by 10-foot section, on brown- 
stone footings, Is reached by a door from the main block of the house and by 
an exterior door in Its north wall, and has$;6-over-6 window In its east wall. 
The second, llj. by lij.-foot section has one 12-over-12 window on Its east wall, 
two on the west, and none on the south. There is a small, l|-over-if window In 
the west wall, near the main block (Photographs 2 and 6).

On the interior, the first floor of the Samuel Parsons House has a cen­ 
tral hall in the front that extends only half the depth of the house, with a 
room on either side, and there are two rooms in the back. The chimneys, In 
the middle of the end walls provide fireplaces In each of the four first- 
story rooms. (See floor plans.)

The central hall has a stairway rising against its north wall, toward 
the back, in a straight run. It has two turned balusters per tread,mold­ 
ings on the step ends, a molded hand rail, and turned newel post. The tri­ 
angular-shaped wall under the stairs is panelled (Photograph ?)•

The north front room has a flared corner post, cased and beaded, and has 
molded chair rail and cornice on all four walls. The celling is plaster. 
The fireplace, in the northeast corner, on an angle, Is brick, with stone 
hearth. There is a cupboard over the fireplace with panelling, and the panel 
ling extends to the floor on the left of the fireplace.

The south front room is similarly arranged. It has a different grouping 
of cupboard and panelling over its fireplace. There are five such angle fire 
place walls in the house, each different from the others. None has a mantel 
shelf. The south front room has a molded cornice and chair rail, and a dado 
of two wide boards. In addition, in the southwest corner there is a cup­ 
board with round-arch opening and butterfly-shaped shelves over raised-panel 
doors (Photograph 8).

The south rear room is the kitchen. It is larger than the front rooms 
by half of the width of the front hall. The fireplace, larger than the 
others, is not at an angle, but is flat against the south wall with panelling 
above and to the left. The present cupboard to the right is thought probably
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to cover an oven because an oven usually is found in this position in a 
kitchen fireplace (Photograph 9). The panelled door to the left leads 
to a closet lighted by an exterior window that is positioned behind an angle 
in the stack (see floor plans). This arrangement maintains exterior sym­ 
metry of window placement, but is awkward In terras of lighting the closet.

The north rear room has another angle fireplace with panelling, and has 
cornice and chair rail. The cornice is plain, not molded, and the fireplace 
Is all brick. Part of the space in this quarter of the house Is occupied by 
a small room against the east wall whose function Is uncertain. At one time 
a steep back stairs rose from this area to the second floor; a patch In the 
floor above shows where It emerged.

The wing Is used as a library, fitted with modern shelving on the inside

The stairs in the front hall rise to a landing one step below the second 
floor level. The balustrade stops at the landing with a square post. There 
Is a riser from the landing east, in the direction of the flight, and another 
riser to the right (south). Both risers have the same molding at the front 
edge of their treads as do all the other steps In the flight.

The second floor of the house, except for the two north rooms, is now a 
single, open space used as a gallery and museum. The scheme in the floor 
plan Is based, In part, on lines In the floor and, In part, Is conjectural. 
The angle fireplace on the south Is still In place. This open space Is 
lighted from the front by the south two dormers. As the front wall of the 
room is a false, vertical wall, rather than the actual slope of the gambrel, 
the windows of the dormers, from the interior, are recessed. The spaces in 
front of the dormers are made Into cupboards, with glazed doors.

The north front bedroom is Intact, with its small, brick, angle fire­ 
place. In this Instance there Is a central panel over the fireplace opening 
with cupboards to right and left. The interior (east and south) walls are 
19-Inch wide, vertical boards with feathered edges, while the exterior 
(north and west) walls are covered with 16-Inch, flush, horizontal boards.

The north rear room on the second floor has hand-riven lath exposed In 
the ceiling, and joists that are only partially finished, that is, are sawn 
on only one side.

Stairs lead from this room up to the attic where the roof framing is 
visible. There are six pairs of principal rafters framed with mortlse-and- 
tenon joints at their peak Into a ridge pole (Photograph 10) and braced by 
four purlins in each slope. The vertical boards of the roof and the Interior
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surface of the clapboards are exposed. There Is no plate at floor level be­ 
cause the break in the gambrel roof slopes occurs two feet above floor level. 
In the framing system, at each juncture of rafter and post there Is a diag­ 
onal brace that runs from this point toward the center of the house and down 
through the attic floor, presumably to a girt. The framing of the top of 
this brace Into both a post and a rafter requires two pegged, mortise-and- 
tenon joints (Photograph 11).

Until the house came into the care of the Historical Society, the cellar 
floor was dirt. Damp and rot pervaded the cellar and the framing of the firsl 
floor to the extent that In the 1960 f s the framing for the first floor had to 
be replaced. Steel beams and new joists and flooring were introduced, making 
the cellar now a single, open space. The stone walls and stone chimney 
bases remain undistrubed, the chimney bases shaped to conform with the two 
angle fireplaces on the north and with one angle fireplace and the flat kit­ 
chen fireplace on the south.

The plot of the Samuel Parsons House, once at least six acres in size 
and perhaps larger, now is a more modest size, 112 feet across the front and 
182 feet deep. Most of the yard is behind the house, pleasantly planted with 
grass, a herb garden and some trees.
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STATEMENT OF SIGNIFICANCE

The Samuel 1 Parsons House is of more than usual interest among 18th- 
century houses because it incorporates elements of the Georgian style of 
architecture in a pre-Revolutionary tfar structure (Criterion C) . Its in­ 
tegrity has been well maintained, and its early date of acquisition for 
use as a local historical society s headquarters is noteworthy.

The post-and-beam, mortise-and- tenon construction of early American 
architecture is well illustrated by the Samuel Parsons House, but the 
usual central chimney with five rooms arranged around it on the first 
floor is not. Instead of a single central chimney, there are two chimneys, 
ore in each end wall, while the center of the house is occupied by a central 
hall, with two rooms on either side. This new arrangement was part of the 
Georgian style of architecture that began to supplant the earlier style 
about 1750.

The Samuel Parsons House is transitional between the two styles. It 
has the central hall instead of the central chimney, but the hall extends 
only half the depth of the house. It has the gambrel roof ? more often found 
in Colonial than in Georgian architecture, and8?? has In overhaL on all four 
sides, a decided Colonial, not Georgian feature. The location ol the two 
chimneys in the end walls makes possible the angle fireplaces? as contrasted 
to the more common arrangement of having twin chimneys in the walls between

• t"i°-1
Sa!?ellin^of the flrePl*ce walls and the corner cupboard ands-ssi-na

n w ?£ °? *M?«5§ and *any ™*imion blocks, are in the manner 
of Robert Adam, the late 18th-century, Scottish architect who carried the 
classical elaboration of the Georgian style to new levels of intriclcy Ind 
refinement that were unforeseen in early Colonial architecture?

The date of construction associated with the house by the Wallineford 
Historical Society is 1759, said to be the year arrived at by a search of the
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land records conducted In 1920 by 0. H. D. Fowler, a Wallingford lawyer and 
judge. While study , of Fowler's notes confirms that he gives a 
reasonably complete chain of title, it is to be observeu that his notes 
take the house back to 1767, not 1759, and as is customarily the case, the 
18th-century land records give less than perfect assurance that the house 
referred to is the same one as now exists. Dates of construction associated 
with the house by others include 1770, which appears on the Wallingford 
assessor's card. The year 1770 was also the date recorded by the Works 
Progress Administration 1930's Census of Old Buildings in Connecticut, with 
a notation by E. D. Keith, its director, that the roof looks later. In the 
picture attached to this record there is a sign on the house that reads, 
"Samuel Parsons, 1770." On the Connecticut Historical Commission's 1966 
survey form William L. Warren has crossed out a date of 1759 and written in 
1770-1783. If built in 1759 the house would be one the earliest to reflect 
attributes of the Georgian style, but in the absence of compelling evidence 
for the earlier date, 1770 seems to be a more reasonable and likely date for 
the year of construction.

The house apparently was built by John Parsons. His son conveyed the 
property in 1785 to Samuel Parsons who owned it until 1803. There is no ex­ 
planation of why the house is known by Samuel Parsons' name rather than that 
of one of the earlier owners. The house later came into the possession of 
Caleb Thompson whose granddaughter, Fannie Ives Schember, leased it to the 
Historical Society in 1919. The Historical Society took title to the house 
in 1932, under the terms of her will.

The wing is thought to have been added about 100 years ago. This date 
is supported by an 1803 map, now hanging on a wall at the house, that shows 
the wing in place by that year.

In the early 20th century the structure was a two-family house. The 
present largely open condition of the second floor resulted when the two- 
family arrangement was reversed. The absence of some partitions on the 
second floor and the necessary replacement of the first-floor framing are 
negatives in terms of the integrity of the house but few 18th-century struc­ 
tures do have complete structural integrity. The few negatives in the case 
of the Samuel Parsons House are outweighed many times by the original first 
floor plan, panelling, fireplaces, and trim, the original exterior walls with 
the unusual combination of overhangs and sophisticated trim, and the roof 
framing with transverse, diagonal braces.
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While it is not uncommon now in Connecticut for a local historical 
society to have an 18th-century house as its headquarters and museum, it 
was uncommon in 1919 when the Wallingford Historical Society took over the 
Samuel Parsons House. In other nearby communities such acquisition did 
not occur until much later; for example, the Meriden Historical Society 
became headquartered in the Moses Andrews House in the mid-1930s, and the 
Darien Historical Society acquired the Bates-Scholfield House in the mid- 
1960s. In the absence of a definitive study of the subject, it cannot be 
said that the Wallingford Historical Society was the first in this respect, 
but certainly it was one of the first to assume the stewardship and enjoy 
the use of an 18th-century h&use. A
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